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A.IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
Comes now Alejandro Anaya-Cabrera, The Petitioner, requesting 

the relief designated in Part B.

B.COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
Petitioner seeks review of the September 1, 2020, Court Of 

Appeals decision(Attached hereto).

C.ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. )Did The Court Of Appeals err, when making the determination 

that ’’the trial court correctly concluded that Anaya-Cabrera's 

detention was based on reasonable suspicion and did not err in 

denying his motion to suppress.", in conflict with another Court 
Of Appeals holdings in State v. Crow, 8 Wn. App. 480(2018), 
justifying review by this court? RAP 13.4(b)(2).

II. Did the Court Of Appeals apply an incorrect standard when 

stating "Anaya-Cabrera fails to demonstrate that the testimony 

complained of was erroneous, we need not consider whether he has 

satisified RAP 2.5(a)(3) because there is no error for the court 

to review.", as Petitioner's reliance on State v. Crow, 8 Wn. 
App. 480(2018) requires reversal of the firearm enhancement, 
constiuting a manifest error affecting a constitutional right? 

RAP 13.4(b)(2).

III.)Was The Court Of Appeals decision erroneous, stating "Here,



the trial court correctly imposed the firearm sentencing 

enhancements to run consecutively under RCW 9.94A.533(3)(e). 

Therefore, Anaya-Cabrera's claim lacks merit.", contradictory to 

this court's decision in State v. McFarland, 189 Wn.2d 47(2017); 

where this court has directed that "decisions by our supreme 

court are binding on all lower courts in the state." in 1000 

Virginia Ltd. P'Ship v. Vertecs, 158 Wn.2d 566(2006)? RAP 

13.4(b)(1),(4).

D.STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was tried and convicted of two VUSCA violations, 

and Carrying a Concealed Pistol. Having recieved firearm 

enhancements on both VUSCA charges, following jury trial. 

Petitioner timely appealed.
Appellant's Opening Brief was filed July 5, 2019. Brief Of 

Respondent having been filed October 9, 2019. Appellate counsel 

filed a Reply Brief October 24, 2019. The Court Of Appeals having 

issued its unpublished opinion denying relief September 1, 2020. 

Petitioner recieved a copy of The Court's Order September 9, 

2020. Deeming this Petition timelj' filed.

E.ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

I.)Petitioner was warrantly seized in violation of his 

constitutional guarantees. U.S.C. Amend. IV; W.S.C. Art. I,§7. In 

which this court has determined warrantless seizures are per se 

unreasonable. See: State v« Doughty, 170 Wn.2d 57(2010). The
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state failed to prove that this warrantless seizure fell into one 

of the "jealously and carefully drawn" exceptions to the warrant 

requirement set forth in State v« Soughtyj supra.
Petitioner was seized when Officer Peterson turned his car, 

got behind the pickup, and activated his emergency lights. State 

V. Gantt. 163 Wn. App. 133, 141(2011). The Officer’s show of 

authority ammounted to a seizure under the Fourth Amendment, even 

though Petitioner did not immediately pull over, California v. 

Hodari D., 499 U.S. 621(1991). This is shown because Petitioenr 

submitted to Officer Peterson’s show of authority by turning the 

truck around, telling Officer Peterson he’d meet in "back down at 

the gate", and stopping at the Hagara property to wait for the 

officer. CP 18.
Peterson did not have a reasonable suspicion based on 

specific and articulable facts that Petitioner had committed any 

crime. All the officer knew when he turned on his emergency 

lights was a Hispanic male may have been involved in a 

disturbance at the Hagara property, and that Petitioner v/as a 

Hispanic male v/ho was diving near the property, and that 

Petitioner had previously had a dispute with Hagara. CP 16-17.
These facts do not provide a reasonable suspicion that 

Petitioner was involved in . any criminal activity. Officer 

Peterson did not know who had caused the disturbance at the 

Hagara residence, a place he’d visited numerous times for contact 

with Hagara and his adult son. RP (11/6/18) 12-13. he had only a 

vague notion regarding the nature of the disturbance} his 

understanding turned out to be incorrect. RP (11/6/18) 13; 16-
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17.
Officer Peterson did not know that Petitioner had any 

involvement with the current problem. RP 16-17. Indeed, he had 

not even been certain he'd recognized the driver, instead had the 

"impression" that it was Petitioner. RP (11/6/18) 16.
The parties disputed in the trial court whether Officer 

Peterson had any additional information. He claimed in his 

testimony that he'd learned from dispatch that a silver pickup 

"may have been involved" in the disturbance. CP 17. Hovjever, he 

did not include the information in his report, and only recalled 

this detail after discussing Petitioner's suppression motion with 

the prosecutor. RP (11/6/18) lA, 39-40.
The trial court did not make a finding on this undisputed 

issue. CP 16-22. And in the absence of such a finding. The Court 

Of Appeals erred by not presuming that The State failed to 

sustain its burden; directly contradicting State v. Armenta, 134 

Wn.2d 1(1997). Accordingly, State v. Kinzy, 141 Wn.2d 373(2000) 

dictated that all subsequently discovered evidence should have 

been suppressed as "fruit of the poisonous tree. '.

II.)Petitioners reliance on State v. Grow, 8 V7n. App. 480(2018) 

requires reversal of the firearm enhancement constituting a 

manifest error affecting a constitutional right. State v. Crow, 

supra held that; [l]Defendant v/as entitled to reversal of his 

conviction of possession of a stolen firearm because his trial 

counsel ineffectively failed to object to inadmissible profile 

testimony outlining a pattern of behavior by felons in relation



to stolen firearms and the testimony was prejudicial to the 

defendant's defense; [2]Washington follows the prevailing view 

that generally precludes profile testimony because of its 

relative lack of probable value when compared to the danger of 

unfair prejudice; [3]Counsel preformed deficiently by failing to 

object to the inadmissible evidence absent a valid strategic 

reason and defendant was prejudiced as a result. State v. Crow, 

supra went on to cite United States v« Wells, 879 F.3d 900, 920- 

21(9th cir. 2018)(Even if lav/ enforcement officers do not 
directly declare that the defendant fits a profile, the defendant 

still suffers undue prejudice if the officers testify that one 

who engages in certain criminal behavior possess certain 

characteristics and the state through other testimony proves that 

the defendant possess these characteristics.).
This case is on point with State v. Crow, as The State v;as 

required to prove that Petitioner was "armed" with a firearm. 

State v. Gurske, 155 Wn.2d, 134, 137(2005). The State was 

obligated to show a nexus between Petitioner, the crime, and the 

gun. Further, trial counsel failed to object to this inadmissible 

profile testimony. Rendering counsel ineffective under Strickland 

V. Washington, 466 U.S. 668(1984), as briefed in Petitoner's 

Opening and Reply Briefs.

The "expert" suggested that there was a nexus because 

Petitioner's case was similar to other cases involving drugs and 

guns. The Officer implied that Petitioenr had the gun under the 

seat for the same reason as other drug offenders: so he wouldn't 

"get ripped off or for protection." RP (11/15/18) 292-293. He



also told jurors that Petitioenr was like 90 percent of the other 

drug offenders caught with a similair quanity of drugs. RP 

(11/15/18) 292-293. The improper profile testimony implied that 

Petitioner v^as "armed" based on characteristics of other involved 

in drug activity. See: State v. Braham, 87 Wn. App. 930(1992). 

Further it ammounted to a nearly explicit opinion of guilt. State 

V. King, 167 Wn.2d 324(2009).
Because the testimony invaded the province of the jury and 

violated Petitioner's 6th and 14th Amendment rights to jury 

trial, The Court Of Appeals erred in not vacating the 

enhancements and remanding for a new trial on the firearm issue, 

in accord with State v. Crow, supra; State v. Woolfolk, 95 Wn. 

App. 541(1999)(remanding "for retrial on the question whether 

Woolfolk was armed with a firearm.").

III.)The Court Of Appeals opinion is in direct contradiction to 

this courts leading authority setforth in State v. McFarland, 189 

Wn.2d 47(2017).
Petitioner recieved a sentence totaling 39 months of 

confinement, plus 12 months of community custody, with zero 

criminal history. 36 months being for two 18-month firearm 

enhancements. At sentencing, and again in The Court Of Appeals 

decision, it was misocnstrued to believe, that all enhancements 

imposed were mandated to be ran consecutive to eachother. This 

interpretation is incorrect and is superseded by State v. 

McFarland, supra.

As evidenced in The Court Of Appeals Order under reviev;, the
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courts was left to believe that all enhancements imposed were to 

be mandatorily ran consecutive to eachother.

Because State v. Mcfarland^ held [l]n a case in which 

standard range consecutive sentencing for miltiple firearm- 

related convictions ''results in a presumtpive sentence that is 

clearly excessive in light of the purpose of [The SRA]", a 

sentencing court has discretion to impose an exceptionally 

mitigated sentence by imposing concurrent firearm-related 

sentences.

F.CONCLUSION
Based upon the above, Petitioner respectfully requests this 

court accept Discretion Review.

SIGNED and DATED this 30th day of September, 2020.

Respectfully Submitted,

Anaya-Cabrera/Petitioner
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

ALEJANDRO ANAYA-CABRERA,

Appellant.

No. 53151-8-11

UNPUBLISHED OPINION

Cruser, J. — Alejandro Anaya-Cabrera appeals his convictions for unlawfiil possession 

of mcthamphetamine, unlawful possession of heroin, and carrying a concealed pistol without a 

license. Anaya-Cabrera also appeals the jury’s finding that he was amed with a firearm during the 

commission of his possession crimes. Anaya-Cabrera argues that (1) the trial court erred by 

denying his motion to suppress evidence discovered after he was seized, (2) the State relied on 

inadmissible profile testimony to convict him of the fireainn sentencing enhancements, (3) he 

received ineffective assistance of counsel because his counsel failed to object to the profile 

testimony, and (4) the State presented insufficient evidence to impose the firearm sentencing 

enhancements. Anaya-Cabrera raises additional issues in his statement of additional grounds 

(SAG).
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We hold that (1) the trial court properly denied Anaya-Cabrera’s suppression motion, (2) 

the State did not rely on profile testimony to convict him of the firearm sentencing enhancement,

(3) Anaya-Cabrera’s counsel did not render ineffective assistance, and (4) the State presented 

sufficient evidence to support the firearm sentencing enhancements. We also hold that the issues

Anaya-Cabrera raises in his SAG lack merit.

Accordingly, we affirm.

FACTS

On September 7,2018, Deputy Keith Peterson of the Grays Harbor County Sheriff s Office 

responded to a call regarding a possible disturbance at the property of William Hagara. Peterson 

was familiar with the Hagara property and referred to it as the “Hagara shop property. • Clerk s 

Papers (CP) at 16 (internal quotation marks omitted). Dispatch informed Peterson that the 

disturbance involved Hagara and a Latino male. The nature of the disturbance was somewhat 

unclear, but Peterson understood that the disturbance involved the male preventing Hagara from 

leaving the property or that the male was taking items from the property without permission from 

Hagara.

About a quarter mile, from the property, Peterson turned off the highway and began 

traveling down the hill toward the Hagara property when he saw a silver Avalanche pickup truck .

traveling up the hill. Peterson recognized the driver of the truck as Anaya-Cabrera, a Latino male 

whom he had arrested a few weeks prior. During the arrest a few weeks prior, Anaya-Cabrera was 

interviewed by police officers. Anaya-Cabrera told the officers that he either had recently moved 

or was in the process of moving out of Hagara’s property. Anaya-Cabrera also mentioned a dispute 

between him and Hagara involving rent or getting kicked off of the property.
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Based on his knowledge of Anaya-Cabrera’s association with the Hagara property and 

Anaya-Cabrera’s recent conflict with Hagara, Peterson believed that Anaya-Cabrera may have 

been involved in the disturbance when he saw him driving away from the property. Peterson turned 

around and activated his lights to detain Anaya-Cabrera. Peterson followed Anaya-Cabrera to a 

nearby traffic light where the traffic was stopped. Anaya-Cabrera rolled down his window and told 

Peterson that he would meet him “back down at the gate.” Id. at 18 (internal quotation marks 

omitted). Peterson knew that the Hagara property had a gate.

Peterson followed Anaya-Cabrera to the Hagara property, where the gate was open. Anaya- 

Cabrera parked and exited his truck. After exiting, Anaya-Cabrera turned his body sideways 

towards Peterson in a “bladed stance,” which Peterson described as suggesting that a confrontation 

may ensue. Id. (internal quotation marks omitted). When Anaya-Cabrera pulled his hand out of his 

pocket, a small item fell out of his pocket. The item was a package of methamphetamine. Peterson 

detained and arrested Anaya-Cabrera.

Peterson impounded the truck pending his application for a search warrant. After receiving 

a search wan’ant, Peterson and Detective Richard Ramirez, a member of the drug task force, 

searched the truck. The truck contained clothing and personal items. The officers found Anaya- 

Cabrera’s wallet with his identification in the driver’s seat and money transfer paperwork 

containing Anaya-Cabrera’s name inside of the truck. The truck also contained daig paraphernalia, 

an electronic scale, and a locking gun case. The gun case was near the front console of the truck 

and was visible from outside of the truck.

The officers also found a loaded handgun under the driver’s seat of the truck. Peterson 

testified that the gun “was directly beneath where Mr. [Anaya-]Cabrera had been seated in the
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vehicle, so within arm’s reach underneath the front driver’s seat.” 2 Verbatim Report of 

Proceedings (VRP) at 269. Peterson stated that based on where Anaya-Cabrera was located in the 

truck, the gun was “easily accessible.” Id. The officers disassembled the interior of the truck after 

observing pry marks and loose screws in the interior. The officers found two packages of heroin

and one package of methamphetamine inside the driver’s side door panel.

' The State charged Anaya-Cabrera with possession of methamphetamine with intent to

deliver while armed with a firearm, possession of heroin with intent to deliver while armed with a 

firearm, and carrying a concealed pistol without a license.

Anaya-Cabrera moved to suppress evidence related to the search and seizure. Anaya- 

Cabrera argued that the evidence was obtained in violation of his constitutional rights because 

Peterson’s seizure of .Anaya-Cabrera was not supported by reasonable and articulable suspicion. 

Anaya-Cabrera argued that the seizure was not supported by reasonable and articulable suspicion 

because Peterson did not know of any facts that connected Anaya-Cabrera to the disturbance at the 

Ilagara property.

The court held a hearing on Anaya-Cabrera’s motion to suppress. At the hearing, Peterson 

testified to the facts outlined above. In addition, Peterson also testified that his decision to seize 

Anaya-Cabrera was also supported by the fact that dispatch had told him that a silver truck was
f

involved in the disturbance at the Hagara property. Peterson did not provide this fact in his written 

report.

After a hearing on the matter, the court denied Anaya-Cabrera’s motion. The court 

concluded that Peterson’s initial detention of Anaya-Cabrera was based on reasonable and 

artieulable suspicion of criminal activity. The court based its decision on the following facts known
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to Peterson at the time and the rational inferences therefrom: (1) Peterson had been dispatched to 

a disturbance at the Hagara property involving a Latino male; (2) on his way to the property, 

Peterson observed Anaya-Cabrera, a Latino male, about a quarter mile away from the property 

driving away from the property; (3) Peterson knew from his recent encounter with Anaya-Cabrera 

that he had recently moved from the Hagara property and that there was some recent history of 

conflict between him and Hagara; (4) when Peterson came up behind Anaya-Cabrera’s truck with 

his lights on, Anaya-Cabrera rolled down his window and said something to Peterson to the effect 

of, “I’ll meet you at the gate,” which Peterson took to refer to the gate at the Hagara property, and 

that was in fact where Anaya-Cabrera pulled over and stopped. CP at 20 (internal quotation marks 

omitted).

In the court’s order denying Anaya-Cabrera’s motion, the court did not make a finding of 

fact on whether dispatch told Peterson that a silver truck was involved in the disturbance at the 

Hagara property. However, the court’s order noted that “[ejven without information about a silver 

pickup truck being involved, this information was sufficient to give Deputy Peterson reasonable 

and articulable suspicion that the Defendant had been involved in the disturbance at the Hagara 

property to justify detaining him.” Id.

The case proceeded to trial. At trial, Anaya-Cabrera conceded that he was a drug user and 

that he had methamphetamine in his pocket when he was seized by Peterson, but stated he only 

possessed the drugs for personal use. With respect to the drugs found in the truck, Anaya-Cabrera 

raised the defense of unwitting possession, arguing that he was unaware that there were drugs 

inside of the tmck. Anaya-Cabrera also claimed that the State could not prove that he had 

knowledge of the gun under his scat.
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At trial, Peterson testified to the facts above. Ramirez testified as to his observations in

assisting in the execution of the search warrant on the truck. The State also asked Ramirez

questions about drug users when buying drugs from dealers, and the following colloquy ensued:

[State]: [I]n your experience investigating the drug culture in Grays Harbor County, 
have you come across users who will buy more than a personal amount of drugs 
and then sell it to their friends to kind of offset their own costs? Is that common? 
[Rahiirez]: Yes, it is.'
[State]: All right. And in your experience dealing with folks who are either getting 
to those heavier weights or buying from their friends, have you encountered peop 1 e 
in that situation who have firearms?

[Ramirez]: Yes, I have.
[State]: And in investigating those crimes and talking to those folks, from your 
training and experience, why might somebody engage in that kind of drug activity 
carry a firearm?
[Ramirez]: Normally ... so they don’t get ripped off or for protection.
[State]: Okay. And in your experience doing drug interdiction in this county, how 
often do you come acro.ss people who have firearms while they’re carrying say, for 
example, that much drugs?
[Ramirez]: I would say it’s about 90 percent of the time.

2 VRP at 292-93. Anaya-Cabrera did not object.

The jury convicted Anaya-Cabrera of the lesser included crimes of unlawful possession of 

methamphetamine and unlawful possession heroin. The jury returned special verdict findings that 

Anaya-Cabrera was armed with a firearm during the commission of the crimes. The jury also found 

Anaya-Cabrera guilty of carrying a concealed pistol without a license.

Anaya-Cabrera appeals.
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DISCUSSION 

I. Seizure

Anaya-Cabrera argues that the trial court erred in denying his motion to suppress all 

evidence discovered after he was seized by Peterson because Peterson did not have sufficient 

grounds to seize him in the first place. We disagree.

“In reviewing the denial of a motion to suppress, we review the trial court’s conclusions of 

law de novo and its findings of fact used to support those conclusions for substantial evidence.” 

State V. Fuentes, 183 Wn.2d 149, 157, 352 P.3d 152 (2015). If the defendant does not challenge 

the trial court’s findings of fact, this court considers them verities on appeal. State v. Bray, 143 

Wn. App. 148, 152, 177 P.3d 154 (2008).

Both the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 7 of the 

Washington Constitution demand that an officer obtain a warrant before seizing an individual 

unless an exception to the wan'ant requirement applies. State v. Weyand, 188 Wn.2d 804, 811,399 

P.3d 530 (2017). “The State has the burden to prove that a warrant exception applies.” State v. 

Bliss, 153 Wn. App. 197, 203, 222 P.3d 107 (2009).

One such exception to the warrant requirement permits an officer to conduct a brief 

investigative stop known as a Teriy stop. State v. Z.U.E., 183 Wn.2d 610, 617, 352 P.3d 796 

(2015). A Teny stop is permissible if the “officer has a reasonable suspicion, grounded in specific 

and articulable facts, that the person stopped has been or is about to be involved in a crime.” State 

V. Acrey, 148 Wn.2d 738, 747, 64 P.3d 594 (2003). Generalized suspicion that the person may be 

up to no good is insufficient to justify a stop. Bliss, 153 Wn. App. at 204. Rather, “the facts must
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connect the particular person to the particular crime that the officer seeks to investigate.” Z.U.E., 

183 Wn.2d at 618.

In determining whether an officer’s suspicion was reasonable, we look to the totality of the 

circumstances. Acrey, 148 Wn.2d at 747. Among the factors to consider when evaluating whether 

the stop was proper are the officer’s training and experience, the location of the stop, and the 

conduct of the detainee. Id. To an extent, reasonableness of the stop depends on the seriousness of 

the suspected criminal conduct. State v. McCord, 19 Wn. App. 250, 253, 576 P.2d 892 (1978).

The parties agree that Anaya-Cabrera was seized when Peterson activated his lights while 

behind Anaya-Cabrera’s truck. Anaya-Cabrera does not challenge any findings of fact supporting 

the trial court’s conclusion that Peterson’s initial detention of Anaya-Cabrera was based on 

reasonable and articulable suspicion of criminal activity. Therefore, those findings are verities on 

appeal. Bray, 143 Wn. App. at 152. Rather, Anaya-Cabrera challenges only the trial court’s 

conclusion of law that Peterson’s detention of Anaya-Cabrera was based on reasonable suspicion, 

arguing that reasonable suspicion was lacking because Peterson did not know if Anaya-Cabrera 

had any involvement with the disturbance at the Hagara property.

Anaya-Cabrera argues that Peterson did not have reasonable suspicion to detain him based 

on the absence of a finding regarding whether Peterson learned from dispatch that a silver pickup 

truck may have been involved in the disturbance. At the hearing on Anaya-Cabrera’s motion to 

suppress, Peterson claimed for the first time that dispatch told him that a silver tmck was involved 

in the disturbance at the Hagara property. However, when denying Anaya-Cabrera’s motion, the 

court expressly stated that “[e]ven without information about a silver pickup truck being involved, 

this information was sufficient to give Deputy Peterson reasonable and articulable suspicion that

8
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the Defendant had been involved in the disturbance at the Hagara property to justify detaining 

him.” CP at 20.

Anaya-Cabrera also asserts that race played a significant role in Peterson’s decision to stop 

Anaya-Cabrera, which is not a legitimate basis for a stop. However, the record does not support 

his claim. The record does not show any circumstances that indicate that Peterson’s seizure of 

Anaya-Cabrera was pretextual or due to bias based on race or any other illegitimate consideration 

based on race. Rather, dispatch specifically described the person involved in the disturbance as a 

Latino male.

Here, the totality of the circumstances support Peterson’s reasonable suspicion that Anaya- 

Cabrera was involved with criminal activity. Acrey, 148 Wn.2d at 747. The unchallenged findings 

of fact establish that Peterson understood the disturbance at the Hagara property involved either a 

possible burglary or a person being held against their will. While approaching the property, 

Peterson saw Anaya-Cabrera, with whom he was familiar, driving away from the property. At the 

time the seizure occuiTcd, Peterson knew that Anaya-Cabrera had recently moved from the 

property and that Anaya-Cabrera and Hagara had a recent history of conflict. These are articulable 

facts that suggest a connection between Anaya-Cabrera and the disturbance at the Hagara property. 

See Z.U.E., 183 Wn.2d at 618. Thus, the trial court correctly concluded that Anaya-Cabrera’s 

detention was based on reasonable suspicion and did not err in denying his motion to suppress.

II. Profile Evidence

Anaya-Cabrera argues that Ramirez gave improper profile testimony that invaded the 

province of the jury and violated his constitutional right to a jury trial. He argues that as a result 

of this error, the jury’s special verdict findings that Anaya-Cabrera was armed during the
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commission of the crime of unlawful possession of a methamphetamine and the crime of unlawful 

possession of heroin must be reversed. Anaya-Cabrera acknowledges that he did not object to the 

testimony at trial but asserts that he may challenge this evidence for the first time on appeal because 

he raises a manifest constitutional error. We disagree.

A. Preservation on Appeal

Generally, issues and arguments not presented to the trial court will not be considered on 

appeal. RAP 2.5(a). A party objecting to the admission of evidence must make a timely and 

specific objection at trial. State v. Powell, 166 Wn.2d 73, 82, 206 P.3d 321 (2009). Washington 

courts have strictly applied RAP 2.5(a) to claimed evidentiary errors “because trial counsel’s 

failure to object to the en'or robs the court of the opportunity to correct the error and avoid a 

retrial.” M

However, an appellant does not waive a manifest error affecting a constitutional right by 

failing to object below. RAP 2.5(a)(3). This exception ensures that “only certain constitutional 

questions can be raised for the first time on review.” State v. O ’Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91,98, 217 P.3d 

756 (2009). In order to merit review, the appellant must show that (1) the error is of constitutional 

magnitude and (2) the error is manifest. RAP 2.5(a)(3); O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 98. Specifically, 

“the appellant must ‘identify a constitutional error and show how the alleged error actually affected 

the [appellantj’s rights at trial.’” O’Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 98 (alteration in original) (quoting State 

V. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926-27, 155 P.3d 125 (2007)).

We do not assume that an alleged error is of constitutional magnitude. Id. Instead, we look 

to the asserted claim and the facts alleged by the appellant and “assess whether, if correct, it 

implicates a constitutional interest as compared to another form of trial error.” Id.

10
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B. Anaya-Cabrera Fails to Demonstrate Error

In order to obtain review, Anaya-Cabrera must prove that the testimony he complains of 

actually amounted to a constitutional error. Id. The testimony that Anaya-Cabrera complains of is 

Ramirez’s testimony that in his experience, he has encountered people that carry firearms while 

buying daigs, and that people “[n]onTially” carry a firearm when buying drugs “so they don’t get 

ripped off or for protection.” 2 VRP at 293. Anaya-Cabrera also takes issue with Ramirez’s 

testimony that in his experience, “about 90 percent” of people who carry “that much drugs” also 

carry a firearm. Id.

Anaya-Cabrera asserts that this testimony implied that he was armed with a firearm based 

on characteristics of others involved in drug activity, which he alleges constituted improper profile 

testimony and infringed on his constitutional right to a jury determination of the facts required for 

the imposition of the sentencing enhancements. However, because we disagree that the testimony 

complained of constituted profile testimony, Anaya-Cabrera’s claim fails at the outset.

Anaya-Cabrera relies entirely on Division Ill’s recent decision in State v. Crow, 8 Wn. 

App. 2d 480, 438 P.3d 541, review denied, \93 Wn.2d 1038 (2019). Crow was convicted of 

unlawful possession of a firearm and possession of a stolen firearm. Id. at 493. Crow could not 

possess a firearm due to a prior felony. Id. at 487. At trial. Crow argued that he did not have 

knowledge that the firearm was stolen. Id. The State introduced police testimony stating that (1) 

the majority of people who possess firearms while prohibited from doing so possess stolen 

firearms; (2) a person who is prohibited from possessing firearms will usually obtain one by 

stealing it; (3) illegally obtained firearms are usually stolen; and (4) when approached by police.

11



No. 53151-8-II

one who knows that he possesses a stolen firearm usually runs from police and discards the firearm, 

/c/. at 487-90. Crow did not object to the testimony. M at 487.

The court held that this testimony constituted improper profile testimony.1 Id. at 501. The 

court reasoned that the testimony told the jurors that because Crow fell into the profile of persons 

prohibited from possessing firearms, Crow knew the firearm was stolen because he either stole the 

firearm or purchased it unlawfully. Id. The testimony also linked Crow’s behavior of running and 

discarding the firearm when approached by the police to other persons who run from the police 

and discard a firearm because they know that the firearm is stolen. Id.

Assuming we agree with Division Ilfs decision in Crow, an issue we need not decide to 

resolve this case, the difference between the testimony in Crow and the testimony at issue here is 

significant. In Crow, the State used the officers’ testimony to argue that because the majority of 

people who possess a firearm while not having the right to do so possess stolen firearms. Crow 

must have known the firearm he possessed was stolen because he was prohibited from possessing 

a firearm. Id. The State used this evidence not as background information about an element of the 

criminal enterprise with which the jury was unlikely to be familiar, but as a substantive evidence 

of Crow’s mental state.

Here, Ramirez made two statements that Anaya-Cabrera characterizes as “profile” 

testimony: (1) that he has personally encountered people engaged in the drug trade who have 

firearms, and that based on his experience, the people he has encountered in the drug trade who

1 The court did not address whether Crow’s claim constituted a manifest constitutional error and 
instead resolved the issue on whether Crow’s counsel was ineffective for failing to object. Crow, 
8 Wn. App. 2d at 494.
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possess firearms might do so for personal protection or to guard against theft; and (2) about 90 

percent of the time he has encountered people who carry “that much drugs,” they are also in 

possession of fireamis.2 2 VRP at 293. For reasons set forth below, Ramirez’s statements do not 

constitute profile evidence.

Of these two statements, the only one that might arguably be considered profile testimony 

is the second statement. But this remark was limited to the mere possession of firearms, not 

possession of a firearm for the purpose of offense or defense, such that a nexus could be found 

between the fireami and the crime. Mere possession of a firearm is not sufficient to prove that 

someone was amied with a firearm during the commission of a crime, nor was Anaya-Cabrera 

charged with a possessory offense related to the firearm. Anaya-Cabrera agrees in this appeal that 

the State proved he constnictively possessed the gun. Ramirez’s “90 percent” remark was limited 

to an association between people who carry an unspecified quantity of drugs and people who 

possess firearms. Id. at 293. Because the remark was limited to mere possession of a firearm, an 

offense not specifically challenged on appeal, Ramirez’s testimony does not constitute profile 

evidence.

The first remark by Ramirez likewise did not constitute impermissible profile testimony. 

In the first remark, Ramirez limited his comment to people he has personally encountered, as 

opposed to a broader class of people, and said that when he encounters people engaged in the dmg

•; It is not clear from the record what the prosecutor meant by “that much dings.” 2 VRP at 293. 
Specifically, it is not clear if the prosecutor was referring to people who carry “heavier weights” 
of drugs, which he mentioned in an earlier question that he asked Ramirez, or if he was referring 
to the quantity of drugs found in Anaya-Cabrera’s possession. See id. at 292. A timely objection 
from defense counsel could have clarified the matter, assuming defense counsel had found this 
testimony objectionable.
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trade who possess a firearm, they nomially do so for personal protection or to guard against theft. 

This testimony could hardly have eome as a surprise to the jury. This is a natural inference one 

would draw when considering why someone engaged in dnig transactions might carry a fireanri. 

However, the jury did not find that Anaya-Cabrera possessed drugs with the intent to deliver them. 

Anaya-Cabrera was acquitted of both intent to deliver charges. Rather, the jury found that Anaya- 

Cabrera merely possessed drugs, presumably for his personal use. As such, Ramirez’s testimony, 

insofar as it referenced those engaged in drug transactions, simply did not apply.to Anaya-Cabrera.

Because Anaya-Cabrera fails to demonstrate that the testimony complained of was 

erroneous, we need not consider whether he has satisfied RAP 2.5(a)(3) because there is no error 

for this court to review.

III. Ineffective Assistance OF Counsel

Anaya-Cabrera argues that his counsel rendered ineffective assistance because his counsel 

failed to object to the admission of Ramirez’s alleged profile testimony. We disagree.

The right to counsel includes the right to effective assistance of counsel. State v. Crawford, 

159 Wn.2d 86, 97, 147 P.3d 1288 (2006). To show ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant 

must show “(1) that defense counsel’s conduct was deficient . . . and (2) that the deficient 

performance resulted in prejudice.” State v. Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 

(2004). There is a strong presumption of effective assistance, and the defendant bears the burden 

of demonstrating the absence of a legitimate strategic or tactical reason for the challenged conduct.

Id-

Decisions on whether and when to object are “classic example[s] of trial tactics.” State v. 

Madison, 53 Wn. App. 754, 763, 770 P.2d 662 (1989). “‘Only in egregious circumstances, on

14



No. 53151-8-II

testimony central to the State’s case, will the failure to object constitute incompetence of counsel 

justifying reversal.”' State v. Johnston, 143 Wn. App. 1, 19, 177 P.3d 1127 (2007) (quoting 

Madison, 53 Wn. App. at 763). To show prejudice, the defendant must also show that counsel’s 

objection would likely have been sustained and the result of the proceeding would have been 

different without the inadmissible evidence. Crow, 8 Wn. App. 2d at 508-09.

Because we conclude that the testimony complained of did not constitute profile testimony, 

Anaya-Cabrera cannot show that an objection to the testimony would likely have been sustained, 

or that he suffered prejudice from defense counsel’s decision not to object to the testimony. Thus, 

Anaya-Cabrera’s claim of ineffective assistance of counsel fails.

IV. Sufficiency of the Evidence Proving Anaya-Cabrera was Armed

Anaya-Cabrera argues that the. State did not meet its burden of proving the firearm 

enhancements because the State failed to prove that he was armed. Anaya-Cabrera argues that the 

State failed to prove that he was armed because (1) the State did not show that the gun was easily 

accessible and readily available, and (2) the State did not prove a nexus between Anaya-Cabrera, 

the crime, and the gun. We disagree.

A. Legal Principles

We review de novo whether the facts are sufficient as a matter of law to prove that a person 

was armed for purposes of the firearm enhancement. State v. Sassen Van Elsloo, 191 Wn.2d 798, 

825,425 P.3d 807 (2018). We must determine ‘“whether any rational trier of fact could have found 

the elements of the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt.’” Id. at 826 (quoting State v. Brown, 

162 Wn.2d422,428, 173 P.3d 245 (2007)). “A sufficiency challenge admits the taith of the State’s 

evidence and accepts the reasonable inferences to be made from it.” State v. O’Neal, 159 Wn.2d

15
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500, 505, 150 P.3d 1121 (2007). We defer to the fact finder on issues of conflicting testimony, 

credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 

874-75, 83 P.3d 970 (2004).

RCW 9.94A.533(3) provides, in part: “[Ajdditional times shall be added to the standard 

sentence range for felony crimes . . . if the offender . . . was armed with a firearm." (Emphasis 

added.) To prove a person is “armed” for purposes of the firearm sentence enhancement, “the State 

must prove (1) that a firearm was easily accessible and readily available for offensive or defensive 

purposes during the commission of the crime and (2) that a nexus exists among the defendant, the 

weapon, and the crime.” Fan E'A/oo, 191 Wn.2d at 826.

B. Easily Accessible and Readily Available

To show that a firearm is easily: accessible and. readily available, close proximity or 

constnictive possession of a firearm at the crime scene is insufficient to show that the person was 

armed. 7c?. Nevertheless,

[a] defendant “does not have to be anned at the moment of arrest to be anned for 
purposes of the firearrns enhancement,” and the State, “need not establish with 
mathematical precision the specific time and place , that a weapon was readily ■ 
available and easily accessible, so long as it was at the time of the crime.”

Id. at 826-27 (quoting O’Neal, 159 Wn.2d at 504-05). “The use may be for either offensive or

defensive purposes, whether to facilitate the commission of the crime, escape from the scene of

the crime, protect contraband or the like, or prevent investigation, discovery, or apprehension by

the police.” State v. Giirske, 155 Wn.2d 134, 139, 118 P.3d 333 (2005). For example, in a drug

possession case, a firearm could be used to acquire or protect drugs. Id. It also could be used to

inhibit the police from investigation or apprehension at the time they discover the dnigs or seek to

execute a warrant. Id.
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In State v. Sabalci, the defendant was stopped while driving his car after buying heroin, and 

a search of his person yielded heroin in his sock. 44 Wn. App. 444, 445, 723 P.2d 5 (1986). The 

police also found a loaded gun under Sabala’s seat with the grip easily within reach of the driver. 

Id. at 445, 448. The court found this evidence sufficient to conclude that a firearm was easily 

accessible and readily available for use during tlie commission of the crime. Id. at 448; see also 

Gl/r5^'e, 155 Wn.2d at 142.
a

Here, too, the State introduced evidence of a loaded gun beneath the driver’s seat of the 

truck that Anaya-Cabrera was driving. The close proximity of the loaded firearm gives rise to the 

inference that anyone sitting in the driver’s seat could have reached for the firearm and used the 

firearm against another person. Therefore, a rational jury could have found that the gun was easily 

accessible and readily available to Anaya-Cabrera from the driver’s seat. See Gurske, 155 Wn.2d 

at 143. Furthermore, Peterson testified that the gun was “easily accessible” and “within arm’s reach 

underneath the front driver’s seat.” 2 VRP at 269. Taking this evidence in the light most favorable 

to the State, there is sufficient evidence that the gun was easily accessible and readily available for 

use.

C. Nexus Requirement

For a firearm enhancement to apply, there must also be a nexus between “‘the nature of the 

crime, the type of weapon, and the circumstances under which the weapon is found.’” Brown, 162 

Wn.2d at 431 (quoting State v. Schelin, 147 Wn.2d 562, 570, 55 P.3d 632 (2002)). The nexus 

requirement “serves to place ‘parameters ... on the determination of when a defendant is armed, 

especially in the instance of a continuing crime such as constructive possession’ of drugs.” Sassen 

Van Elsloo, 191 Wn.2d at 827 (alteration in original) (quoting Gurske, 155 Wn.2d at 140).
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To determine whether there was a nexus, we review “‘the nature of the crime, the type of 

weapon, and the circumstances under which the weapon'[was] found (e.g., whether in the open, in 

a locked or unlocked container, in a closet on ashelf, or in a drawer).’” Giirske, 155 Wn.2d at 142 

(quoting Schelin, 147 Wn.2d at 570). But “when the crime is of a continuing nature, such as a drug 

operation, a nexus exists if the firearm is ‘there to be.used’ in the commission of the crime.” Sassen 

Van Elsloo, 191 Wn.2d at 828 (quoting Gurske, .155 Wn.2d at 138). Whether the weapon is there 

to be used is a fact specific inquiry. State,v. Neff, 163 Wn.2d 453, 462, 181 P.3d 819 (2C)08).

In State v. Easterlin, sufficient evidence supported a connection between the defendant, the 

gun, and the crime of possession where a police officer found Easterlin asleep in his car with a gun 

on his lap and cocaine in his sock. 159 Wn.2d 203, 207, 210, 149 P.3d 366 (2006). In^assew Van 

Elsloo, the court found sufficient evidence to support the nexus requirement where the shotgun 

was found less than a foot from the backpack that contained the dmgs, and the shotgun was ready 

for use because it was loaded and not locked in a safe. 191 Wn.2d at 830. Here, the State presented 

evidence that the gun was in close proximity to the drugs, Anaya-Cabrera had easy access to the 

gun, and the gun was ready for immediate use. These facts and circumstances support an inference 

of a connection between the gun, the crime of possession of a controlled substance, and Anaya- 

Cabrera. See Easterlin, 159 Wn.2d at 210. Therefore, we conclude that a rational trier of fact could 

reasonably infer that the gun was “there to be used” in the commission of the crime either against 

another person while in possession of the drugs of against the officer who stopped him. Gurske, 

155 Wn.2d at 138.

Taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the evidence is sufficient to 

support the jury’s verdict that Anaya-Cabrera was armed with a firearm because a rational trier of
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fact could find that the gun was easily accessible and readily available, and that there was a nexus 

among the gun, the eommission of the drug crimes, and Anaya-Cabrera.J

V. SAG

In his SAG, Anaya-Cabrera argues that (1) the trial court abused its discretion when it 

denied his motion to suppress the drugs found inside of the track due to the State’s late discovery 

disclosure and illegal impoundment of the truck, and (2) the trial court abused its discretion by 

imposing the firearm sentencing enhancements to run eonseeutively. We conclude that these issues 

lack merit.

A. Motion to Suppress

Anaya-Cabrera argues that the trial court abused its discretion when it denied his counsel’s 

motion to exclude the drag evidence found inside of the truck because (1) the State failed to send 

the drug samples to the crime laboratory until four weeks before trial, and (2) the track was 

unlawfully impounded. Anaya-Cabrera states that the State’s failure to send the drug samples until 

four weeks before trial demonstrates a lack of due diligence and forced him to choose between his 

constitutional speedy trial right and his right to effective assistance of counsel. We disagree.

3 Anaya-Cabrera also argues that this evidence is insufficient to prove that he was armed because 
the State failed to prove that he knew the gun was in the track. A person’s knowledge of the gun’s 
presence may be- a factor for the jury to consider in deciding whether the defendant was armed. 
State V. Barnes, 153 Wn.2d 378, 386-87, 103 P.3d 1219 (2005). However, knowledge of the gun 
is not an element of the firearm enhancement that must be proven by the State. Id. at 387. 
Moreover, Anaya-Cabrera does not present any argument about how the State’s evidence was 
insufficient. He merely argues that because the. State did not introduce any statements by Anaya- 
Cabrera that he knew the gun was under his seat, the evidence is necessarily insufficient to show 
that he knew the gun was there. But the Jury has the sole responsibility of weighing the evidence, 
and we do not reweigh the evidence on appeal. State v. Stewart, 141 Wn. App. 791, 795, 174 P.3d 
111 (2007). Anaya-Cabrera’s argument lacks merit.
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1. Lack of Diligence in Sending Drug Evidence to the Laboratory

Prior to trial, defense counsel asked the trial court to dismiss the dmg charges against 

Anaya-Cabrera or, in the alternative, to exclude the drug evidence found in Anaya-Cabrera’s truck 

based on the State’s failure to send the drug samples until four weeks prior to trial. The trial court 

denied both motions. In his SAG, Anaya-Cabrera asks us to review only the portion of the trial 

court’s decision denying the motion to exclude the drug evidence as a sanction for the State s lack 

of diligence. Although Anaya-Cabrera points us to CrR 8.3(b), that rule governs dismissal oi 

criminal cases. The rule that governs the suppression of evidence as a sanction for a discovery 

violation by the State is CrR 4.7(h)(7).

Under CrR 4.7(h)(7)(i), when a party fails to comply with an applicable discovery rule, the 

court may “grant a continuance, dismiss the action or enter such other order as it deems just under 

the circumstances.” The purpose of CrR 4.7 is to protect against surprise that causes prejudice to 

the defense. State v. Bradfield, 29 Wn. App. 679, 682, 630 P.2d 494 (1981). Thus, “[ejxclusion or 

suppression of evidence is an extraordinary remedy and should be applied narrowly.” State v. 

Hutchinson, 135 Wn.2d 863, 882, 959 P.2d 1061.(1998), abrogated in part on other grounds by 

State V. Jackson, No. 97681-3, slip -op. at _ (Wash. July 16, 2020),

https://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/pdf/976813.pdf Violations which involve failure to provide 

evidence in a timely manner “are appropriately remedied by continuing trial to give the 

nonviolating party time to . . . prepare to address new evidence.” Hutchinson, 135 Wn.2d at 881. 

Absent a showing of prejudice, we will not interfere with the court’s exercise of discretion when 

denying sanctions under CrR 4.7(h)(7)(i). Bradfield, 29 Wn. App. at 682.
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Before trial, Anaya-Cabrera’s eounsel asked the court to dismiss the State’s case because 

the State was not diligent in sending the drug samples to the laboratory. When the court denied the 

motion, Anaya-Cabrera’s counsel unsuccessfully moved to exclude the drugs found in the car. 

Anaya-Cabrera’s counsel never requested a continuance. His counsel articulated what she may 

have explored further had the results been received earlier, but she did not explain how the late 

discovery resulted in prejudice. Anaya-Cabrera also does not explain how he was prejudiced by 

the trial court’s decision to deny his counsel’s motion to suppress the drugs found inside of the 

truck.

Because Anaya-Cabrera does not show prejudice, we will not disturb the trial court’s 

ruling. 29 Wn. App. at 682.

2. Impoundment of the Truck

In his motion to suppress to the trial court, Anaya-Cabrera challenged the impoundment of 

his truck. However, as the trial court found, Anaya-Cabrera’s truck was temporarily impounded 

for the purpose of securing it pending the application for, and issuance of, a search warrant. The 

search of Anaya-Cabrera’s tmck was conducted pursuant to that search warrant. If police officers 

have probable cause to search a vehicle, they may seize the vehicle for the time reasonably needed 

to obtain a search warrant. State v. Campbell, 166 Wn. App. 464, 472, 272 P.3d 859 (2011). That 

is what occurred here, as the trial court correctly found.

Because Peterson had authority to impound the truck in order to obtain a search wairant, 

we conclude that the trial court did not abuse its discretion when denying Anaya-Cabrera’s motion 

to suppress.
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B. Firearm Sentencing Enhancements

Anaya-Cabrera argues that the trial court abused its discretion by ordering the firearm 

sentencing enhancements to am consecutively. We disagree.

The trial court sentenced Anaya-Cabrera to 18 months confinement for each possession 

charge. RCW 9.94A.533(3)(e) states that “all firearm enhancements under this section are 

mandatory, shall be served in total confinement, and shall run consecutively to all other sentencing 

provisions, including other firearm or deadly weapon enhancements, for all offenses sentenced 

under this chapter.” Even when the defendant is convicted of two offenses that constitute the same 

criminal conduct, the enhancements are consecutive. State v. Mandanas, 168 Wn.2d 84, 88, 228 

P.3d 13 (2010).

Here, the trial court coaectly imposed the firearm sentencing enhancements to am

consecutively under RCW 9.94A.533(3)(e). Therefore, Anaya-Cabrera’s claim lacks merit.
/

CONCLUSION

We hold that the trial court properly denied Anaya-Cabrera’s suppression motion, and that 

the State did not rely oh profile testimony to convict him of the firearm sentencing enhancements. 

We also hold that Anaya-Cabrera did not receive ineffective assistance of counsel, and the State
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presented sufficient evidence to support the firearm sentencing enhancements. Finally, we hold 

that the issues Anaya-Cabrera raises in his SAG lack merit.

Accordingly, we affirm.

A majority of the panel having detenuined that this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW 2.06.040, 

it is so ordered.

We concur:
CRUSER, J.

GLASGOW;. 0
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